Supreme Court of California

Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court

Electronically FILED on 6/8/2020 by Celia Wong, Deputy Clerk

S262634	
Case No	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROBERT ZOLLY, RAY MCFADDEN AND STEPHEN CLAYTON

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

CITY OF OAKLAND

Defendant-Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Published Decision from the Court of Appeal First Appellate District Court Case No. A154986 Alameda County Superior Court Case No. RG16821376

Cedric C. Chao (SBN 76045) CHAO ADR, PC One Market Street Spear Tower, 36th Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 cedric.chao@chao-adr.com Tel: (415) 293-8088

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This petition raises three issues regarding whether true franchise fees, negotiated between local municipalities and private-sector city service providers, are subject to voter approval requirements for taxes set forth in California Constitution, Article XIII C, as amended by Proposition 26 in 2010. The uniform and proper development of these issues, including clarification of this Court's 2017 *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* decision,

-

¹ The Superior Court's May 29, 2018 Order Sustaining Demurrer is attached as Appendix B pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.504(e)(1)(B).

has great financial and public health and safety consequences for city and county governments and their residents throughout California.

- 1. Are franchise fees categorically exempt from the definition of "tax" as "[a] charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property," under California Constitution, Article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e)(4)²?
- 2. Is Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara intended to apply beyond its pass-through surcharge facts and to reach all franchise contracts following the passage of Proposition 26, particularly in light of the significant adverse financial and public health and safety consequences throughout California if Jacks is broadly applied?
- 3. Are franchise fees, negotiated between local governments and private-sector service providers and paid by the franchisees, "imposed" by a local government on taxpayers within the meaning of California Constitution, Article XIII C, section 1, subdivision (e), and section 2?

² For convenience and brevity, references to California Constitution, Article XIII C, Section 1, subdivision (e) may be referred to herein as, "Article XIII C." Article XIII C, Section 1, subdivision (e)(4) is referred to herein as "Exemption 4."

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted to settle three important issues related to the treatment of franchise fees under the California Constitution's voter approval requirements for "taxes" following the adoption of Proposition 26 and this Court's *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* decision, and to secure the uniformity of trial and appellate court decisions throughout California in this area.

This case involves the intersection of two divergent areas of law: the treatment of public service franchises and franchise fees, and voter-imposed constitutional restrictions on local taxation. These distinct lines of authority converged, for the first time, in this Court's decision in *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 248.

This Court should grant review to (1) settle whether franchise fees are categorically exempt from the definition of "tax" by virtue of the passage of Proposition 26, which added an exemption to the definition of "tax," which the parties and the Court of Appeal concur covers franchise contracts; (2) settle on the proper interpretation of this Court's *Jacks* decision, which involved a pass-through surcharge that pre-dated Proposition 26; and (3) settle whether a local government "imposes" a tax on taxpayers within the meaning of Article XIII C when the local government enters a franchise contract with a private-sector service provider.

A. Clarification of the Scope of Proposition 26's Exemption of Franchise Fees from Article XIII C's Definition of "Tax"

Proposition 26, effective November 3, 2010, defined "tax" in connection with the various voter approval statutes. While expanding the definition of "tax," Proposition 26 simultaneously carved out seven exemptions from that definition. As acknowledged by this Court in *Jacks*, Exemption 4 applies to franchise fees. (*Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 262-63.) Based on a plain reading of Article XIII C and applying the rules of statutory construction, the City submits that Exemption 4 is a "categorical" exemption such that there is *no* requirement that the franchise fee be tested by a "reasonable relationship" to cost or value to fall within the exemption. The City's interpretation of Exemption 4 is consistent with California courts' historical treatment of franchise fees as "non-taxes."

This Court explicitly reserved this question in *Jacks*:

We are concerned only with the validity of the surcharge under Proposition 218. *Proposition 26's exception from its definition of 'tax' with respect to local government property is not before us.*

(Jacks, 3 Cal.5th at 263 fn. 6 (emphasis added).)

The *Zolly* court deemed Exemption 4 to be ambiguous, and then looked to the final paragraph of Article XIII C, section 1, speaking to the local government's burden of proof, to support its conclusion that Exemption 4 is governed by a "reasonable relationship" test. The court did so even

though Exemption 4 – unlike other exemptions in that section – has no "reasonable relationship" or "reasonable cost" language.

This is an issue of first impression, reserved in *Jacks* for a future case. This case squarely presents the issue. If Exemption 4, like other Article XIII C exemptions that lack the reasonability term, is a categorical exemption, then the Court of Appeal is mistaken and the Superior Court's dismissal of Respondents' challenge to Oakland's franchise fees is correct. Resolving this issue clearly is of great importance: there are thousands of current franchise contracts entered into between California cities and counties and private-sector service providers. Without resolution now, this issue will repeatedly be raised, at great cost, with significant financial and public health and safety consequences in the balance. This Court's guidance is needed.

B. Clarification of the Proper Application and Interpretation of *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara*

In *Jacks*, this Court analyzed whether a one-percent surcharge imposed by the City of Santa Barbara, forwarded by the utility to ratepayers on their electricity bills, and remitted dollar-for-dollar back to Santa Barbara with *no* financial obligation by the utility to pay any part of the surcharge, was subject to voter approval requirements for taxes under the *pre-Proposition 26* version of Article XIII C. This Court, extrapolating from *Sinclair Paint Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866, and similar cases involving *non-franchise* fees – *e.g.*, regulatory fees, user fees,

property development fees – held that the Santa Barbara surcharge was not a valid "franchise fee" and was subject to Proposition 218's voter approval requirements to the extent that it was not "reasonably related to the value of the franchise." (*Id.* at 257.)

In interpreting the scope of the *Jacks* decision under the *post-Proposition 26* version of Article XIII C, the Court of Appeal disregarded Article XIII C's plain language, the clear intent of Proposition 26 (to categorically exempt franchise fees from Article XIII C's voter approval requirements), and the historical treatment of franchise fees as non-taxes. The *Zolly* court instead held that *Jacks* – despite not addressing Proposition 26 or its application to franchise fees – should be extended to cover all franchise fees, and not just the type of surcharge analyzed in *Jacks*. The Court of Appeal's opinion expands *Jacks* beyond its limited facts, misreads the plain language of Article XIII C and Exemption 4, and ignores key legislative history materials relating to Proposition 26 that demonstrate the absence of any intent to restrict franchise fees or define them as a "tax." This Court's guidance is needed.

C. Clarification of the Meaning of "Imposed" in the Context of a Franchise Fee

The voter approval requirements of Article XIII C apply only to fees "imposed" by local government upon taxpayers. But a franchise fee is the price paid by a franchisee (not a taxpayer) for the franchise, namely, the

contract consideration for the right to do business with the local government entity.

The term "impose" within Article XIII C in the context of a franchise fee has not been squarely addressed, reflecting the fact that California law has historically treated franchise fees as non-taxes. Franchise fee revenue is indisputably an important component of public sector finances. Clarification by this Court of the Article XIII C gateway definitional term, to "impose" on a taxpayer, is needed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2012, the City initiated a Request for Proposal ("RFP") procurement process for new waste-hauling, mixed materials and organics, and recycling franchise contracts to take effect July 1, 2015. (Compl. ¶1, 1 JA 3; *id.* ¶¶19-20, 1 JA 7.)³

After a lengthy and difficult bidding and negotiations process, the Oakland City Council on August 27, 2014 granted the City's exclusive recycling services franchise to California Waste Solutions Inc. ("CWS"), and on September 29, 2014 granted the City's exclusive franchise for mixed materials & organics collection services to Waste Management of Alameda County ("WMAC"). Both contracts were contingent on the parties' further

_

³ Citations to "JA" are to the Joint Appendix submitted in the Court of Appeal.

negotiation and execution of their respective contracts. (See 1 JA 323-26 ("CWS Ordinance"); 1 JA 139-42 ("WMAC Ordinance").)

The WMAC Ordinance included the following provision regarding the franchise fee at issue in this appeal:

In consideration of the special franchise right granted by the City to Franchisee to transact business, provide services, use the public street and/or other public places, and to operate a public utility for Mixed Materials and Organics collection services, Franchisee shall remit a monthly franchise fee payment to the City, as specified in the Contract. From July 1, 2015, through June 30, 2025, Franchisee shall pay the City a monthly franchise fee of Twenty-Five Million Thirty-Four Thousand Dollars (\$25,034,000) per annum, subject to annual adjustment on July 1 each year, as specified in the Contract.

(1 JA 141 at § 6 (emphasis added).) Using similar language, the CWS Ordinance set a franchise fee of \$3,000,000 subject to annual adjustment. (2 JA 326 at § 5.) The adoption of the WMAC Ordinance reduced the City's total franchise fees from their former levels. (Second Amended Complaint ("SAC"), ¶47, 2 JA 284.)

On June 29, 2016, the Zolly Respondents filed a lawsuit challenging the contracts' rates, franchise fees, and AB 939 fee under Proposition 218. (1 JA 1-51.) Three rounds of complaints and demurrers followed; in each round, the City prevailed and the Zolly Respondents were given leave to amend. (1 JA 098-101; 1 JA 271-72.)

On June 29, 2017, while the City's second demurrer was under submission, this Court decided *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 248. The City brought *Jacks* to the Superior Court's attention. (1 JA 211-270.) On July 12, 2017, the Superior Court sustained the City's demurrer in full, with leave to amend. (1 JA 271-72.) Regarding Respondents' franchise fee challenge, the Superior Court agreed with the City that "[a] fee paid for government property interest is compensation for the use or purchase of that government asset, rather than compensation for a cost." (*Id.*) The Court further noted, quoting *Jacks*, that "historically, franchise fees have not been considered taxes, and nothing in Proposition 218 reflects an intention to treat amounts paid in exchange for property interests as taxes." (*Id.* (quoting *Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 262).)

On August 28, 2017, the Zolly Respondents filed their Second Amended Complaint ("SAC") for declaratory relief, renewing their claim that the franchise fees and AB 939 fee are subject to Proposition 218. (2 JA 275-88.) The City again demurred.

On May 29, 2018, following extensive oral argument, the Superior Court issued its Order Sustaining Demurrer in Part without Leave to Amend and in Part with Leave to Amend. (2 JA 460-67.) After careful analysis, including a comparison of the fundamental differences between the Oakland franchise fees and the Santa Barbara surcharge in *Jacks*, the Superior Court rejected Respondents' challenge to Oakland's franchise fees. The court ruled

that Respondents had not "alleged circumstances sufficient to bring the franchise fees in the instant case within the narrow exception, recognized in Jacks, to the general principle, also set forth in Jacks, that '[h]istorically, franchise fees have not been considered taxes' and that '[n]othing in Proposition 218 reflects an intent to change the historical characterization of franchise fees, or to limit the authority of government to sell or lease its property and spend the compensation received for whatever purposes it chooses." (2 JA 473.) The Superior Court ruled that to hold otherwise "would subject municipalities to potential taxpayer-challenge lawsuits over every franchise agreement into which they enter regardless of whether the fees are imposed on the franchisee rather than the consumer and regardless of how small the amount of the franchise fees negotiated by the parties may be" – a "sweeping and burdensome change in the long-established precedents governing taxpayer challenges to franchise agreements negotiated by municipalities" not supported by *Jacks*. (*Id*.)

The Superior Court sustained the demurrer as to Respondents' AB 939 fee claim with leave to amend regarding potential future annual increases, but Respondents elected not to amend and instead to proceed to the Court of Appeal. On July 19, 2018, the Superior Court entered a Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice. (2 JA 468-80.)

On August 3, 2018, the Zolly Respondents appealed. (2 JA 496.)

Briefing followed, including amicus briefs filed by the League of California

Cities and the Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association ("HJTA"). The City filed an Answer to the HJTA amicus brief and a Motion for Judicial Notice ("MJN") of two key documents: the Proposition 26 Voter Information Guide, and a Legislative Analyst's Office report regarding tax-related voter approval requirements. (2/20/2020 MJN Exs. 1-2.)

Following oral argument, the Court of Appeal filed its published opinion reversing the Superior Court's order dismissing the franchise fee challenge, but affirming the dismissal of Respondents' challenge to the annual AB 939 fee increase.⁴

On April 14, 2020, the City filed a Petition for Rehearing, noting that the Court of Appeal opinion appeared to have overlooked the City's Answer to the HJTA amicus brief and accompanying Motion for Judicial Notice. On April 17, the Court of Appeal issued an order denying rehearing but granting the City's motion for judicial notice. (*See* Appendix A.)

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. Review Is Needed to Clarify the Scope of Proposition 26's Exemption of Franchise Fees from Article XIII C's Definition of "Tax"

The scope of Proposition 26's exemption of franchise fees from the definition of "tax" is an issue of first impression that this Court expressly reserved in *Jacks*. This case squarely presents this important question: is the

16

⁴ The AB 939 ruling is not at issue in this petition.

exemption categorical or is it qualified by *Jacks*'s "reasonable relationship" test? The Court's resolution will provide crucial guidance on issues affecting all cities and counties and their residents.

1. Franchise Fees Have Historically Been Treated as "Non-Taxes," and Relevant California Voter Initiatives Have Not Altered That Status

For over 100 years, public agencies in California have provided public services to city and county residents through private-sector franchisees under authority vested in them by the California Constitution and by statute. (*E.g.*, *County of Alameda v. Pacific Gas and Electric Co.* (1997) 51 Cal.App.4th 1691, 1694-95 (outlining history of municipal franchises); *Santa Barbara County Taxpayers Assn. v. Bd. of Supervisors of Santa Barbara County* (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 940, 949 (listing examples of franchises granted by local governments).) As this Court recognized in *Jacks*, "a franchise is a form of property, and a franchise fee is the price paid for the franchise." (*Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 268, 262 (citations omitted).) As fees negotiated as consideration for valuable property rights, "[h]istorically, franchise fees have not been considered taxes," and thus have not been subject to any restrictions on taxation. (*Id.* at 262.)

Voter amendments limiting taxation began with Proposition 13 in 1978. Proposition 13 added Article XIII A to the California Constitution, which limits the rate at which ad valorem property taxes may be increased. (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, §§ 1, 2.) It also requires two-thirds voter approval

for a local government to impose "special taxes." (*Id.*, § 4.) In 1986, voters enacted Proposition 62, adding Sections 53720 through 53730 to the Government Code, mandating that all local taxes, not just "special" taxes, are subject to voter approval.

In 1996, California voters passed Proposition 218, which added Articles XIII C and XIII D to the California Constitution. Article XIII C defines the concepts of general and special taxes that were adopted as part of Proposition 62. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, §§ 1(a), (c).) Article XIII C also incorporates the voter approval requirements of Propositions 13 and 62 by requiring voter approval of any general or special taxes "impose[d], extend[ed], or increase[d]" by any local government. (*Id.*, §§ 2(a), (b), (d).) Significantly, Proposition 218 and the accompanying ballot materials made no mention of franchise fees.

In 2010, Proposition 26 added a new definition of the word "tax" to Article XIII C, defining a "tax" as "any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government." (Cal. Const., art XIII C § 1, subd. (e).) The definition also expressly carved out seven exemptions from the definition of "tax." This appeal involves Section 1(e)(4) ("Exemption 4"), which excludes from the definition of tax any "charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property." As this Court acknowledged in *Jacks*, Exemption 4 applies to amounts paid in exchange for government property interests, such as

franchise fees. (*Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 262-63.) Compared with the first three exemptions in sub-section (e), each of which includes an express requirement that the particular charge not exceed the "reasonable costs" or "reasonable regulatory costs" of the service or activity in order not to be a "tax," Exemption 4 contains no corresponding requirement that the charge must not exceed, or must be related to, the "reasonable" cost or value of the property rights conveyed. (Cal. Const., art XIII C § 1, subd. (e).)

Proposition 26's exemption for franchise fees as charges for the use or purchase of government property is consistent with the historical treatment of franchise fees as non-taxes. (*See Jacks*, 3 Cal.5th at 262.) Indeed, before *Jacks*, no California court had held or suggested that a true franchise fee paid in exchange for the purchase of franchise rights could be considered a "tax" subject to constitutional restrictions and voter approval requirements. The Court of Appeal relied on *Jacks* to reach the incorrect conclusion that Exemption 4 is not absolute but instead is qualified by *Jacks*'s "reasonable relationship to value" test. This Court should grant review to clarify the meaning and effect of Proposition 26's Exemption 4.

2. The Plain Language of Article XIII C, as Amended by Proposition 26, and Its Ballot Initiative History Manifest an Intent to Categorically Exempt Franchise Fees from the Definition of "Tax"

In analyzing whether Oakland's franchise fees are subject to Article
XIII C's definition of "tax," the Court of Appeal ultimately held, relying on

Jacks, that the franchise fees must be "reasonably related to the value of the franchise," and that "[o]nly that portion with a reasonable relationship may be exempt from the 'tax' definition." (Zolly, 47 Cal.App.5th at 88.) In so holding, the Court of Appeal misinterpreted the plain language of Article XIII C and Exemption 4, and disregarded key ballot initiative history and secondary sources that establish a categorical exemption for franchise fees. Review is needed to resolve the proper interpretation of Article XIII C and California's tax approval scheme.

a) The Court of Appeal's Misapplication of Principles of Statutory Construction and Misreading of Article XIII C Require Clarification

Zolly raises important questions regarding the correct interpretation of Article XIII C's definition of "tax" and the specific exemptions enumerated therein, added following Proposition 26's passage. Is Article XIII C's plain language clear on its face, or must courts resort to external sources, such as ballot initiative materials, to discern its meaning? The Court of Appeal ruled the latter, primarily relying on an asserted ambiguity arising out of subsection (e)'s closing provision regarding the government's burden of proving whether a given charge is a "tax." (Zolly, 47 Cal.App.5th at 86-87.)

The Court of Appeal's analysis violates basic principles of statutory construction. Courts interpreting a voter initiative such as Proposition 26 start with "the initiative's language, giving the words their ordinary meaning and

construing this language in the context of the statute and initiative as a whole. If the language is not ambiguous, [courts] presume the voters intended the meaning apparent from that language, and [courts] may not add to the statute or rewrite it to conform to some assumed intent not apparent from that language." (*People v. Superior Court (Pearson)* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 571.)

The language of Article XIII C, and of Exemption 4 specifically, is clear and unambiguous: any charge that is "imposed for entrance to use or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property" is not a "tax" and is categorically exempt from voter approval requirements. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)(4); see also 2/20/2020 MJN, Ex. 1, 2014 Legislative Analyst's Office Report at 3, 5.)⁵ Unlike other exemptions in Article XIII C, section 1, Exemption 4 does not include any requirement that a franchise fee be "reasonably" related to "cost," much less the value of the franchise. (Compare Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1 subd. (e)(1)-(3) (referencing "reasonable costs").) Under wellestablished principles of statutory construction, the inclusion of a "reasonability" requirement in the first three exemptions underscores the absence of a similar requirement in Exemption 4, and is evidence of voter intent to impose different requirements for different types of charges. (See,

-

⁵ The Legislative Analyst's Report is available at https://lao.ca.gov/reports/2014/finance/local-taxes/voter-approval-032014.pdf.

e.g., Tuolumne Jobs & Small Business Alliance v. Superior Court (2014) 59 Cal.4th 1029, 1037.)

The Court of Appeal correctly recognized this critical distinction between the specific language of Exemptions 1 through 3 and Exemption 4: "The fourth exemption does not expressly state the charge for entrance to or use of local government property must be reasonable. This absence contrasts with the first three exemptions, which do explicitly include such a requirement." (*Zolly*, 47 Cal.App.5th at 86 (emphasis added).)

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