IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S262634

Robert Zolly, Ray McFadden, and Stephen Clayton Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

City of OaklandDefendant and Respondent

Answer to Petition for Review

After a Published Opinion
From the First District Court of Appeal, Division One
Appeal No. RG16821376
Superior Court of Alameda, Case No. RG16821376

Zacks, Freedman & Patterson, PC Andrew M. Zacks, No. 147794 253 Montgomery St., Suite 400 San Francisco, CA 94104

(415) 956-8100

az@zfplaw.com

Katz Appellate Law

Paul J. Katz, No. 243942 484 Lake Park Ave. #603 Oakland, CA 94610 (510) 920-0543 paul@katzappellatelaw.com

Attorneys for Appellants

INTRODUCTION

In its petition for review, Oakland seeks to render obsolete this court's recent decision in *Jacks v. City of Santa Barbara* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 248 (*Jacks*). *Jacks* blocked one way that cities try to raise taxes without getting the requisite voter approval—by using a utility to collect an exorbitant amount from ratepayers and calling that amount a "franchise fee" (i.e., the price paid for the utility to use city property). *Jacks* held that, when a franchise-fee amount exceeds the value of the franchise conferred, that imbalance reveals the city has padded the fee with a tax subject to the voter-approval requirement of article XIII C of the California Constitution.

The Court of Appeal here held that *Jacks*' franchise-fee test applies to a newer version of article XIII C enacted through Proposition 26. (*Zolly v. City of Oakland* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 73, 88 (*Zolly*).) That

makes sense: voters enacted Proposition 26 to combat the very practice of disguising taxes as fees that *Jacks* blocked in the franchise-fee context. Yet Oakland is asking this court to turn Proposition 26 on its head by construing it to permit a franchise fee no matter the fee's amount or relationship to the franchise value. This court should decline that invitation.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. This court does not need to revisit the franchise-fee test it recently created in *Jacks*.

Just three years ago, Jacks resolved under what circumstances article XIII C of the California Constitution invalidates a charge styled as a franchise fee—the purchase price for a utility to use government property. (Jacks, supra, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 262, 267–271.) Voters in 1996 had enacted article XIII C to prevent cities from disguising taxes—which require voter consent—as fees. (Apartment Ass'n of Los Angeles County, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (2001) 24 Cal.4th 830, 839.) Jacks held that, to determine "whether a charge that is nominally a franchise fee constitutes a tax depends on whether it is reasonably related to the value of the franchise rights." (Jacks, supra, at p. 271.) When the price paid for a franchise exceeds the underlying value of that franchise, it shows the city is trying improperly to extract revenue from ratepayers by using the utility as an artifice. (Id. at p. 269.)

And Jacks held that this franchise-fee test applies regardless of whether ratepayers pay the charge directly (as a line item on their utility bills) or indirectly (in the form of higher rates). (Jacks, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 269 & fn. 10.) Jacks reasoned that the method by which ratepayers pay the charge "does not alter the substance" or the "validity of the charge[]" under article XIII C because (1) either method results in a "payment made in exchange for a property interest that is needed" to run a utility; and (2) "a public regulated utility is a conduit through which government charges are ultimately imposed on

ratepayers" regardless of any intermediate payments made by the utility. (*Ibid*.)

To garner support for its petition here, Oakland's tries to muddy the clear meaning and scope of *Jacks*' franchise-fee test. (PFR 30–33.) Yet *Zolly* correctly ruled the test applies regardless of the charge's label or the method by which ratepayers pay the charge. (*Zolly, supra,* 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 85.) Thus, the only argument left for Oakland is that *Jacks*' test no longer applies because the charges at issue here are subject to an amended version of article XIII C. But, as explained below, *Zolly* correctly ruled that *Jacks*' test still applies.

II. Oakland's argument depends on the dubious proposition that the anti-tax Proposition 26 liberated cities to raise limitless revenue via utilities.

To address the problem of cities' continuing to disguise taxes as fees, voters in 2010 enacted Proposition 26 and thereby "made two changes to article XIII C" as originally enacted by Proposition 218. (Citizens for Fair REU Rates v. City of Redding (2018) 6 Cal.5th 1, 11 (Citizens).) "First, it specifically defined "tax," and did so broadly, to include 'any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind imposed by a local government.' (Art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).) However, the new definition has seven exceptions." (Citizens, supra, at p. 11.) "Second, Proposition

¹ Here are the seven exceptions:

⁽¹⁾ A charge imposed for a specific benefit conferred or privilege granted directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of conferring the benefit or granting the privilege.

⁽²⁾ A charge imposed for a specific government service or product provided directly to the payor that is not provided to those not charged, and which does not exceed the reasonable costs to the local government of providing the service or product.

⁽³⁾ A charge imposed for the reasonable regulatory costs to a local government for issuing licenses and permits,

26 requires the local government to prove 'by a preponderance of the evidence that ... [an] exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity.' (Art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).)" (*Citizens, supra*, at p. 11, alterations in original.)

Oakland contends that the fourth exception covers all charges that are nominally franchise fees. (PFR 19–30.) But that contention should be met with skepticism. As explained above in Part I, the original version of article XIII C provided that a so-called franchise fee was actually a tax to the extent its amount exceeded the reasonable value of the franchise. (Jacks, supra, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 269–271.) That limit was needed to prevent franchise fees from becoming "a vehicle for generating revenue independent of the purpose of the fees"—a "concern that is more than merely speculative." (Id. at p. 269.) And the whole point of Proposition 26 was to make it even tougher for cities to generate revenue from residents without getting voter consent. (See Schmeer v. County of Los Angeles (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1322

performing investigations, inspections, and audits, enforcing agricultural marketing orders, and the administrative enforcement and adjudication thereof.

⁽⁴⁾ A charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property.

⁽⁵⁾ A fine, penalty, or other monetary charge imposed by the judicial branch of government or a local government, as a result of a violation of law.

⁽⁶⁾ A charge imposed as a condition of property development.

⁽⁷⁾ Assessments and property-related fees imposed in accordance with the provisions of Article XIII D.

⁽Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).)

[stating that Proposition 26 was "an effort to close perceived loopholes in Propositions 13 and 218"].)

Yet Oakland's interpretation of Proposition 26 would mean that the initiative *erased* Proposition 218's limit on franchise-fee amounts. This court should be extremely reluctant to adopt such a counterintuitive interpretation. (See *Boling v. Public Employment Relations Board* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 898, 918 [stating that this court avoids a construction that "'would result in an evasion of the evident purpose of [a statute]"'" when possible], citation omitted and alteration in original.)

Fortunately—as *Zolly* correctly ruled—the current text of article XIII C does not compel that perverse result. (Zolly, supra, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 88.) The fourth exception covers "[a] charge imposed for entrance to or use of local government property, or the purchase, rental, or lease of local government property." (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, \S 1, subd. (e)(4).) And a city has the burden to prove by the preponderance of the evidence that a given charge fits within that exception. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e).) So how does a city prove that the whole amount of a charge is actually imposed for a utility's use of government property and not for revenue-generation unrelated to that use? Jacks' franchise-fee test still supplies the answer: it depends on whether the charge's amount "reflect[s] a reasonable estimate of the value of the franchise." (Jacks, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 267.) Only charges that pass this test are truly "amounts paid in exchange for property interests"—i.e., real franchise fees excepted from the definition of tax. (*Ibid.*)

Oakland relies on the fact that, in contrast to the first three exceptions, the fourth exception does not include the word "reasonable." But unlike the first three exceptions, which involve cities being reimbursed for *expenses*, a franchise fee is compensation for a city *asset*. (*Jacks, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 268.) The first three exceptions, then, need the word "reasonable" to ensure that cities are not reimbursed for

profligate spending. (See Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2010) argument in favor of Prop. 26, p. 60 [stating that local politicians "need to control spending, not use loopholes to raise taxes"].) By contrast, the fourth exception does not need the word "reasonable" to provide a meaningful limit on franchise fees because the value of the relevant asset (i.e., the franchise) is set by the market. (See *Jacks*, *supra*, at p. 270.)

Moreover, Oakland ignores that the last three exceptions do not include the word "reasonable" either. Yet the amounts of the charges covered by those exceptions are limited by other constitutional provisions.² It makes no sense that voters would have enacted six limited exceptions and one limitless one—enticing cities to charge ever higher franchise fees. *Zolly* correctly reasoned that permitting cities to use utilities as intermediaries to raise revenue without getting voter consent "would directly conflict with the purpose of Propositions 218 and 26." (*Zolly*, *supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 88.)

o

² Charges imposed "as a result of a violation of law" under the fifth exception must be proportional under the excessive fines clauses of the state and federal Constitutions. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)(5); see also People ex rel. Lockyer v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. (2005) 37 Cal.4th 707, 728; Timbs v. Indiana (2019) 139 S.Ct. 682, 689 [203 L.Ed.2d 11].) Charges "imposed as a condition of property development" under the sixth exception must be roughly proportional to the projected impact of the proposed development. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)(6); see also Ehrlich v. City of Culver City (1996) 12 Cal.4th 854, 881; Koontz v. St. Johns River Water Management Dist. (2013) 570 U.S. 595, 612 [133 S.Ct. 2586, 186 L.Ed.2d 697].) And charges that are assessments or property-related fees under the seventh exception must be proportional to the special benefit or cost associated with each affected parcel. (Cal. Const., art. XIII C, § 1, subd. (e)(7); see also Cal. Const., art. XIII D, § 4, subd. (a) & § 6, subd. (b)(3).)

³ The correctness of *Zolly* also means that this court should decline to depublish the opinion, which some organizations have requested.

III. Other recently published cases do not create a split requiring this court to grant review here.

Since *Zolly*, two cases have addressed issues under Proposition 26. But neither case creates a split that merits this court's review of this case.

First, County Inmate Telephone Service Cases (2020) 48
Cal.App.5th 354, 360–362 (County Inmate) applied to the article XIII C context the "general rule" that individuals do not have standing to seek a tax refund for taxes paid by someone else. But, as County Inmate recognized, Zolly does not implicate that general rule because the Zolly plaintiffs seek only "declaratory and injunctive relief"—not a tax refund. (Id. at p. 362.) Given that County Inmate was decided upon taxpayer-standing doctrine, that case does not conflict with the merits ruling in Zolly. (See Boorstein v. CBS Interactive, Inc. (2013) 222
Cal.App.4th 456, 465 [ruling that a plaintiff's lack of standing is a threshold issue that prevents the court from reaching the merits].)

Second, Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Association v. Bay Area Toll Authority (June 29, 2020, No. A157598) __ Cal.App.5th __ [2020 WL 3496798] (Howard Jarvis) ruled that a toll increase was not a state tax under article XIII A of the California Constitution because it fits within an exception for a "'charge imposed for entrance to or use of state property[.]'" (Id. at *11, quoting Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 3, subd. (b)(4).) That state-tax exception mirrors the municipal-tax exception at issue here. (Id. at *13, fn. 18.) But because Howard Jarvis did not involve a franchise fee, the court did not consider whether Jacks' franchise-fee test still applies after Proposition 26. And franchise fees involve unique features, including the exchange of money for a utility's right to run a local monopoly, which merit a different analysis than a fee to pay for government expenses such as the toll fee in Howard Jarvis. (See id. at *13, fn. 18 ["we of course express no opinion")

11

⁴ Appellants in *County Inmate* filed a petition for review on June 5, 2020, which is pending.

on [the *Zolly*] court's ultimate conclusion as to whether and when a franchise fee constitutes a tax"]; *Jacks, supra,* 3 Cal.5th at p. 268 [contrasting franchise fees with other fees that are "related to an expenditure by the government"].)

CONCLUSION

This court should deny the petition for review.